Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-6-2016

City of Blackfoot v. Spackman Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44207

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Nature of the Case.

The City is seeking a water right to allow it to replace an expensive surface water pump system with an easier-to-maintain well system, and offers the annual seepage from the Jensen's Grove gravel pit into the Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer (the "ESPA") as mitigation. A prior proceeding concerning the Jensen's Grove water right was settled by agreement, which allows the City itself to utilize the seepage as mitigation. Without considering the settlement agreement, the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR" or the "Department") denied the application and the District Court affirmed.

B. Course of Proceedings.

The City submitted the Application for Permit No. 27-12261 ("<u>12261</u>") on September 12, 2013. Agency Record ("<u>A.R.</u>"), pp. 1-27. The original application was signed by then-Mayor Mike Virtue. A.R., p. 3. On September 2, 2014, the Department assisted the City with preparation of an amended application for permit, which was signed by Mayor Paul Loomis.¹ A.R., pp. 28-58. On January 27, 2015, the City submitted a second amended application with the further assistance of Rocky Mountain Environmental Associates, Inc., complete with an

¹ Evidence of the Department's assistance is contained in the style and layout of a map submitted with the amended application.

amended mitigation plan. A.R., pp. 92-105. The second amended application was also signed by Mayor Paul Loomis. A.R., p. 93.

After these amendments, 12261 sought a water right permit to develop 9.71 cfs of ground water for the irrigation of 524.2 acres with a portion of Water Right No. 01-181C ("<u>181C</u>"), a Snake River surface water right, being offered as mitigation for the depletive effects to the ESPA resulting from diversion of groundwater under 12261. A.R., pp. 200-01.

12261 was protested by the Surface Water Coalition (the "<u>Coalition</u>").² At the contested case hearing, the Coalition stipulated that items (b) through (e) of Idaho Code § 42-203A(5) were not at issue, and specifically stipulated that they did not disagree with or object to the modeling analysis performed quantifying the recharge benefits of water lost from a gravel pit known as Jensen's Grove from the diversion of 181C into Jensen's Grove or the proposal to leave small portions of certain surface water rights in the Blackfoot River to mitigate for modeling impacts to downstream reaches of the Snake River. A.R., pp. 203-04, 207. More specifically, the Coalition's concern was not **factual** in nature, but only based on **legal** issues surrounding interpretation of a document entitled *Settlement Agreement, IDWR Transfer of Water Right, Transfer No. 72385*, dated June 2006 (the "*Settlement Agreement*"), which was entered into when 181C was amended and moved for use at Jensen's Grove through a transfer application submitted pursuant to Idaho Code § 42-222. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 4, pp. 18-23.

² The Surface Water Coalition is comprised of: A&B Irrigation District, Burley Irrigation District, Milner Irrigation District, North Side Canal Company, and Twin Falls Canal Company (represented by Barker Rosholt & Simpson LLP); together with American Falls Reservoir District #2 and Minidoka Irrigation District (represented by Fletcher Law Office).

In fact, the Coalition presented no witnesses at the hearing. Transcript of Administrative Proceedings ("Admin. Tr."), p. 49, ll. 21-23. Stated another way, the Coalition did not submit evidence of any factual concerns or rebuttal testimony or analysis regarding the modeling analysis and other analyses submitted by the City, or to rebut the reality that ground water recharge occurs at Jensen's Grove under 181C. The only assertion of injury was that use of 181C for mitigation would injure the Coalition because it would be used differently than the Coalition believed the *Settlement Agreement* allowed it to. A.R., pp. 155-56. The Coalition asserts that 181C was not authorized to be used for mitigation purposes. A.R., pp. 163-69. This is why briefing was submitted specifically addressing the legal question of: "Is there a legal impediment to using water right 01-181C in a mitigation plan for the proposed permit?" A.R., p. 200. Therefore, the only item under Idaho Code § 42-203A(5) at issue was subpart (a), which is whether 12261 "will reduce the quantity of water under existing water rights" based on the Coalition's interpretation of the *Settlement Agreement* and its perceived limitations of using 181C for mitigation purposes.

On June 30, 2015, the hearing officer issued a *Preliminary Order Issuing Permit* (the "<u>*Preliminary Order*</u>"), which issued 12261 with the condition that the City file a transfer application under Idaho Code § 42-222 to allow it to use the recharge provided by 181C as mitigation for 12261. A.R., pp. 200-16. On July 14, 2015, the City filed exceptions to the *Preliminary Order* pursuant to Idaho Code § 67-5245(3) and IDAPA 37.01.01.430.02.b. and asked the Director of the Idaho Department of Water Resources, Gary Spackman (the

"<u>Director</u>") to correct perceived errors made by the hearing officer in reaching his conclusion. A.R., pp. 220-44. The Coalition responded on July 30, 2015. A.R., pp. 249-69.

On September 22, 2015, the Director issued an *Order Addressing Exceptions and Denying Application for Permit* (the "*Final Order*") within which the Director refused to consider the *Settlement Agreement*, found that 181C could not be used for ground water recharge without an approved transfer application, and denied the City's application for 12261. A.R., pp. 271-74.

The City filed a petition for judicial review with the District Court, pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 42-1701A(4), 67-5270, and 67-5279, on October 16, 2015. A.R., pp. 278-85. On April 6, 2016, the District Court affirmed the *Final Order*, in its *Memorandum Decision and Order* (the "*Memorandum Decision*"), which led to the *Judgment*, also filed April 6, 2016.

C. Statement of Facts.

With a population of nearly 12,000, the City of Blackfoot is one of eastern Idaho's major cities. *See, e.g.,* <u>http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/16/1607840.html</u>; **Error! Hyperlink reference not valid.** Many years ago, during the planning and construction of Interstate 15 ("<u>I-15</u>"), the Blackfoot City fathers were approached by Federal Highway Administration officials to discuss relocation of a portion of the Snake River channel because doing so would eliminate construction of four bridges, thereby saving the federal government the expense of constructing the bridges. Admin. Tr., p. 35, l. 22–p. 36, l. 10. As responsible citizens, these City fathers recognized the benefit to taxpayers, and agreed to the channel relocation even though doing so would mean sacrificing significant riverfront property. Admin. Tr., p. 36, ll. 19-23.

The City therefore effectively replaced Snake River riverfront property with a gravel pit, which has since been used to mine gravel for road construction. Admin. Tr., p. 29, l. 16–p. 30, l. 17. This gravel pit that exists at the former location of a portion of the Snake River channel on the east side of I-15 is known as Jensen's Grove. A.R., pp. 203-04.

Decades after the City allowed the federal government to relocate the Snake River channel, the City was awarded a federal grant of approximately \$250,000, through the help of Congressman Mike Simpson, to secure a water right to fill and maintain water levels in Jensen's Grove during the summer months. Admin. Tr., p. 36, l. 24-p. 37, l. 11. The City used these funds to purchase 181C from the New Sweden Irrigation District. Admin. Tr., p. 37, ll. 12-15; see also A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 2, p. 12. These federal funds represent payment for only a small part of the losses the City incurred by giving up its riverfront property, and the benefit of the City's purchase of a water right for Jensen's Grove is that it salvaged some of that loss by creating a recreational area and facility for local residents. In order to use 181C, which was originally solely an irrigation right, Admin. Tr., p. 37, ll. 16-19, for all the purposes intended by the City-including recreation-the City filed a transfer application on October 27, 2005 to amend 181C which was numbered as Transfer No. 72385 ("72385"). A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 6, pp. 28-43. The transfer requested (1) a change in the place of use to relocate it to Jensen's Grove and (2) changes to the nature of use of 181C to diversion to storage, storage, diversion to recharge, as well as retaining a small portion for irrigation purposes. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 6, p. 28.

The Coalition protested 72385. See A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 3, p. 15. Eventually, the parties agreed to resolve the Coalition's protest pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Settlement Agreement. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 4, pp. 18-23; id., Exhibit 104, pp. 74-87; see also id., Exhibit 8, pp. 46-47. The draft approval of 72385 included ground water recharge and ground water recharge storage as expressly listed beneficial uses of 181C. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 103, p. 72. However, the Coalition took issue, as expressed in a letter from one of the Coalition's attorneys, which asserted that "[c]ontrary to the [Settlement] Agreement, the draft approval includes 'ground water recharge' and 'ground water recharge storage' as new purposes of use for [181C]. These proposed uses should be removed." A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 8, p. 46 (italics added). There is nothing in the record indicating the City's objection to this assertion, but for the reasons explained below, the City felt that any such objection was unnecessary. 72385 was approved on February 14, 2007. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, pp. 88-90. 181C now allows the City to divert (1) 46 cfs as diversion to storage; (2) 1 cfs and 200 AF for irrigation; (3) 200 AF for irrigation storage; (4) 200 AF for irrigation from storage; and (5) 2,266.8 AF for recreation storage, of which 1,100 AF of this amount is stored in Jensen's Grove during its season of use and 980.8 AF is allocated for seepage losses during its season of use. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, p. 90. As stated by condition no. 5 of the transfer approval for 181C:

The reservoir established by the storage of water under this right shall not exceed a total capacity of **1100 acre feet** or a total surface area of 73 acres. This right authorizes additional storage in the amount of **186** afa to make up losses from evaporation and **980.8** afa for seepage losses.

A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, p. 90 ("<u>Condition No. 5</u>") (emphasis added). Thus, in addition to 980.8 AF of seepage, 1,100 AF of water left in Jensen's Grove at the end of the irrigation season enters into the aquifer as ground water recharge for an overall total annual loss of 2,080.8 AF. *See* A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, p. 90. The Coalition has not challenged these facts or the effects described in the City's modeling. It is this annual seepage loss—ground water recharge—of 2,080.8 AF that the City seeks to use as mitigation for 12261. *See* A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 1, p. 2.

Additionally, condition no. 9 of the transfer approval for 181C incorporates the provisions of the *Settlement Agreement*:

The diversion and use of water under this transfer is subject to additional conditions and limitations contained in a Settlement Agreement-IDWR Transfer of Water Right, Transfer No. 72385, dated June 2006, including any properly executed amendments thereto, entered into by and between the New Sweden Irrigation District, the City of Blackfoot, A& B Irrigation District, American Falls Reservoir District #2, Burley Irrigation District, Milner Irrigation District, Minidoka Irrigation District, Twin Falls Canal Company, and North Side Canal Company. The Settlement Agreement has been recorded in Bingham County (Instrument No. 575897) and Bonneville County (Instrument No. 1249899) and is enforceable by the parties thereto.

A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, p. 90 ("<u>Condition No. 9</u>") (emphasis added). Condition No. 5 and Condition No. 9 were incorporated into the SRBA partial decree for 181C as part of the quantity element and as an "other provision necessary for definition or administration of this water right," respectively. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 106, pp. 91-94 (the "<u>Partial Decree</u>"). Thus, both the Department's approval of 72385 and the SRBA partial decree for 181C incorporate the *Settlement Agreement. See* A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 105, p. 90; *compare id.*, Exhibit 106, p. 93. For that reason, the interpretation of the elements and conditions of 181C, including the provisions of the *Settlement Agreement*—particularly paragraph 1—was at issue in the contested case of 12661. *See* A.R., pp. 137, 155-156.

The City applied for 12661 in order to replace an expensive and dated surface water pump station on the Blackfoot River that the City currently operates. The City delivers several surface water rights through the pump station. Admin. Tr., p. 9, l. 22–p. 10, l. 1. The water right entitlements diverted at the pump station include water rights³ that were previously delivered through a facility known as the "Miner's Ditch," as well as water allocated to shares owned by certain shareholders of the Corbett Slough Irrigation Company and shareholders of the Blackfoot Irrigation Company. A.R., Hrg. Exh. List, Exhibit 1, p. 1; A.R., p. 201.

Prior to the 1960s, Miner's Ditch ran through the City and crossed I-15. Admin. Tr., p. 9, II. 13-17. Miner's Ditch ran near a proposed school, and in an effort to increase safety and eliminate the dangers of an open ditch, the City, the State of Idaho, and the local school district decided to eliminate Miner's Ditch and replace it with a pump station on the Blackfoot River to provide water to the water users who took delivery of their water through Miner's Ditch. Admin. Tr., p. 9, 1. 18–p. 10, 1. 1. The pump station arrangement was accepted by the City, not by agreement, but by actions of the Blackfoot City Council. Admin. Tr., p. 10, II. 2-9. Since its construction, the City has maintained the pump station almost entirely on its own. Admin. Tr., p. 10, II. 10-14. The City only receives a small yearly stipend from the irrigators who benefit from

³ Water Right Nos. 27-17, 27-20A, 27-20B, 27-23E, 27-10790, 27-10999, and 27-11117.

the pump station, but receives no contribution from the local school district, the State of Idaho, or others for maintenance and operation of the pump station. Admin. Tr., p. 10, ll. 10-14.

The pump station has proven to be a major burden for the City, both operationally and financially, particularly with no help from the local school district or the State of Idaho. The pump station requires significant maintenance because of the high sediment load in Blackfoot River water. Admin. Tr., p. 10, ll. 21-22. The pump station has to be refurbished every two to three years, and due to these maintenance issues, operates at an annual cost of between \$40,000 and \$50,000 per year. Admin. Tr., p. 10, l. 22-p. 11, l. 9. The pump station has two pumps, one of which operates, while the other is being serviced or repaired. Admin. Tr., p. 35, ll. 1-10. Currently, the concrete culvert and other attendant equipment associated with the pump station have aged and may need to be replaced soon. Admin. Tr., p. 11, ll. 1-5. As a result, the City, with the aid of consultants, examined a number of options to address the situation. Admin. Tr., p. 11, l. 10-p. 13, l. 13. The City analyzed refurbishment of the pump station, installation of settling ponds, and replacing the delivery of water to the Miner's Ditch users with a well. Admin. Tr., p. 11, l. 10-p. 13, l. 13. Results from the City's experts estimated that refurbishment of the Blackfoot River pump station would cost just under \$400,000, and that settling ponds would be very expensive as well. Admin. Tr., p. 12, ll. 5-14. The most cost effective option was drilling a new well, at an estimated cost of \$80,000. Admin. Tr., p. 12, ll. 10-11.

The City first analyzed drilling a well very near to the pump station on the Blackfoot River with the hope that it would qualify under the Department's current policy for essentially changing a water right's source. Admin. Tr., p. 11, ll. 13-24; *see also Administrator's*

Memorandum, Transfer Processing No. 24, p. 26 (December 21, 2009) ("The ground water and surface water sources must have a direct and immediate hydraulic connection (at least 50 percent depletion in original source from depletion at proposed point of diversion in one day.)"). Unfortunately, based on analysis of the local geology, the City's consultants determined that there is a basalt layer approximately 50 feet below land surface which would require the City to hit a "sweet spot" of 48.5 feet for the well to function and operate appropriately. Admin. Tr., p. 12, l. 25–p. 13, l. 6. With so little margin of error, the City elected to look at other options instead. Admin. Tr., p. 13, ll. 7-13.

The alternative eventually pursued by the City was to drill a new well and use ground water recharge from Jensen's Grove to mitigate for the ground water withdrawals. Admin. Tr., p. 13, ll. 7-24. The operational costs of the new well are anticipated to be between \$12,000 and \$14,000 per year, compared to \$40,000 to \$50,000 per year to maintain the Blackfoot River pump station. Admin. Tr., p. 15, ll. 1-12. The result would be an estimated savings of between \$26,000 and \$38,000 per year to the City. The new well would provide water to the lands serviced by the pump station, most of which is within City limits or within the City's impact area. Admin. Tr., p. 15, ll. 13-21. Accordingly, the City filed 12261 to authorize development of a water right to provide water to the Miner's Ditch users. *See* A.R., pp. 1, 28, and 92.

12261was protested by the Coalition. A.R., pp. 66-67. The only matter at issue at the hearing on this matter was the legal question of whether, under Idaho Code 42-203A(5)(a), 12261 "will reduce the quantity of water under existing water rights" based on the *Settlement Agreement* and the use of 181C for mitigation purposes.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL.

- A. Whether the Director erred in a manner described in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) by failing to consider the Settlement Agreement, IDWR Transfer of Water Right, Transfer No. 72385, June 2006, as an element of Water Right No. 01-181C.
- B. Whether the Director erred in a manner described in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) by not engaging in contractual interpretation of the *Settlement Agreement*, *IDWR Transfer of Water Right*, *Transfer No.* 72385, *June* 2006.
- C. Whether the Director erred in a manner described in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) by concluding that "[n]othing in Transfer No. 72[3]85 [sic] or the Partial Decree issued by the Snake River Basin Adjudication indicate Right 01-181C can be used for ground water recharge." *Final Order* at 2. Stated another way, whether the City gave away its ability to use 01-181C to mitigate for 27-12261 when it entered into the *Settlement Agreement*, *IDWR Transfer of Water Right, Transfer No. 72385, June 2006.*
- D. Whether the Director erred in a manner described in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) by concluding that the City must pursue a transfer application if it wants to use 01-181C for mitigation purposes. *Final Order* at 2.
- E. Whether the Director erred in a manner described in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3) by determining that "any recharge to the aquifer achieved by diversion and use under Right 01-181C, is merely incidental recharge [under Idaho Code § 42-234(5)] and cannot be 'used as a basis for claim of a separate or expanded water right."

III. ARGUMENT.

While this Court "will review an agency's decision independent of the district court's determination," *McCoy v. State, Dep't of Health & Welfare*, 127 Idaho 792, 793, 907 P.2d 110, 111 (1995) (citations omitted); *see also* Idaho Appellate Practice Section, IDAHO APPELLATE HANDBOOK V-46 (4th ed. 2015), "[t]his Court will not consider issues that were not raised before the district court even if those issues had been raised in the administrative proceeding." *Clear Springs Foods v. Spackman*, 150 Idaho 790, 797, 252 P.3d 71, 78 (2011). As this Court has explained:

In an appeal from a district court where the court was acting in its appellate capacity under the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act ("IDAPA"), "we review the decision of the district court to determine whether it correctly decided the issues presented to it." *Clear Springs Foods v. Spackman*, 150 Idaho 790, 797, 252 P.3d 71, 78 (2011). However, we review the agency record independently of the district court's decision. *Spencer v. Kootenai Cnty.*, 145 Idaho 448, 452, 180 P.3d 487, 491 (2008). A reviewing court "defers to the agency's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous," and "the agency's factual determinations are binding on the reviewing court, even when there is conflicting evidence before the agency, so long as the determinations are supported by substantial competent evidence in the record." *A & B Irrigation Dist. v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 153 Idaho 500, 505–06, 284 P.3d 225, 230–31 (2012). "This Court freely reviews questions of law." *Vickers v. Lowe*, 150 Idaho 439, 442, 247 P.3d 666, 669 (2011).

The district court must affirm the agency action unless it finds that the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or
- (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

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