Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-3-2016

City of Blackfoot v. Spackman Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 44207

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

ARGUMENT

The Director and District Court have properly rejected the City's arguments. Each forum held that the City must file a transfer application to add "recharge" and/or "mitigation" as an authorized use of water right 01-181C. *See* A.R. 271 & Clerk's R. 206. Since the City refused to file such an application for transfer, its proposed mitigation failed and the new groundwater application was properly denied. The City complains that the Director and District Court erred because the Settlement Agreement effectively added "recharge" as an authorized use of water right 01-181C. The City's arguments are erroneous and without merit.

In order to prevail, the City must convince this Court that a private agreement, that does not include the Idaho Department of Water Resources, can change the elements of a water right such that the water right can be used for purposes other than those identified on the face of the partial decree. The City contends that the Settlement Agreement between the City and the Coalition allow the City to use water right 01-181C for "groundwater recharge" even though that use is not identified on the face of the decree as an authorized purpose of use. See generally City Br. at 19-33. The City's arguments have been rejected in every forum and the City has provided no valid reason or new argument to suggest why it should prevail on appeal. Indeed, neither the law nor the facts support the City's arguments. Therefore, the Coalition respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Director's and District Court's decisions.

⁷ The City repeatedly, and incorrectly, refers to seepage from Jensen's Grove as "groundwater recharge" – as though the mere repetition of the phrase would make the statement true. See, e.g., City Br. at 26. However, testimony at hearing confirmed the undisputed fact that water seeping in Jensen's Grove is incidental recharge. See also A.R. Ex. 8. Water must continually be diverted into Jensen's Grove in order to maintain the level sufficient for the desired recreational activities. Supra.

I. The Law Requires that a Transfer be Filed to Change the Use of a Water Right. The Private Settlement Agreement between the City and the Coalition Does not Expand the Authorized Uses of Water Right 01-181C.

A. The Elements of a Water Right Cannot Be Changed without A Transfer.

A water right is defined by its elements. The elements of the water right specify the authorized use of that water. See I.C. § 42-1411(2)(f); see also I.C. § 42-1412(6) ("The district court shall enter a partial decree determining the nature and extent of the water right which is the subject of the objection or other matters which are the subject of the objection. The decree shall contain or incorporate a statement of each element of a water right as stated in subsections (2) and (3) of section 42-1411"); I.C. § 42-1420 (once entered, the decree is "conclusive as to the nature and extent of all water rights in the adjudication").

Where water is diverted for multiple purposes, the water right must identify all such uses. See A.R. Ex. 106 (identifying multiple authorized uses of water right 01-181C). For example, a water right with a use of "irrigation" cannot be used for "fish propagation" unless that use is also identified on the water right. Similarly, without additional acknowledgement on the water right, a water right with a purpose of use identified as "recreation storage," such as water right 01-181C, cannot be used for an additional use of "mitigation" or "groundwater recharge." Critically, these beneficial uses are not the same. See I.C. § 42-234 (identifying groundwater recharge as a beneficial use). A water right identifies the uses for which it may be used and the law prohibits unilateral changes to those uses.⁸

⁸ Importantly, the City knows that groundwater recharge is a <u>separate and distinct</u> use from the uses identified on water right 01-181C. See City Br. at 28 (recognizing that neither mitigation nor recharge are "listed elements of the water right"). When filing the transfer of water right 01-181C, the City specifically identified "recharge" as a separate and distinct use of the water right. A.R. Ex. 100. When the Department initially included "groundwater recharge" on the draft transfer approval order, A.R. Ex. 103, the Coalition challenged that decision explaining that any reference to "recharge" "should be removed" because the Settlement Agreement only recognized "incidental recharge." A.R. Ex. 8. In the final transfer order, all references to "recharge" use were removed from the water right. A.R. Ex. 105; see also A.R. Ex. 106 (SRBA Decree). The City never appealed the agency's final decision or the

Any water user seeking to change an element of a water right must "make application to the department of water resources:"

Any person ... who shall desire to change the point of diversion, place of use, period of use or *nature of use* of all or part of the water, under the right *shall* <u>first</u> make application to the department of water resources for approval of such change.

I.C. § 42-222 (emphasis added).

To assist with the transfer process, the Department has issued "Administrator's Memorandum, Transfer Process No. 24." That memo explains when a transfer is required, as follows:

Section 42-222, Idaho Code, requires the holder of a water right to obtain approval from the department prior to changing: (1) the point of diversion, (2) the place of use, (3) the period of use, or (4) the nature of use of an established water right. An established water right is a licensed right, a decreed right, or a right established by diversion and beneficial use for which a claim in an adjudication or a statutory claim has been filed. Approval is sought by filing an application for transfer with the department.

<u>Changes to Elements of a Water Right</u>. An application for transfer is required if a proposed change would alter any of the four elements of the water right listed above that can be changed pursuant to Section 42-222, Idaho Code, as recorded with the department or by decree.

Transfer Memo at 2-3.10

Both the transfer decision and SRBA decree include a section identifying the "Purpose and Period of Use" for water right 01-181C. A.R. Exs. 105 & 106. Recharge is not listed as an authorized use. Idaho law is clear. Any attempt to change this element requires an application for transfer.

subsequent partial decree entered by the SRBA Court. See Admin. Tr. 44-45 (Former Mayor Reese testifying that the uses for the water right are recreation storage and irrigation).

⁹ See http://www.idwr.idaho.gov/WaterManagement/WaterRights/PDFs/ESPA Transfer Memo.pdf.

¹⁰ The Transfer Memo does provide a brief list of actions that do not require a transfer. *Id.* at 3-5 (listing change in ownership, split rights, replacement of point of diversion, refined descriptions, generally described place of use, municipal places of use, instream stock watering and intensified use of water). However, none of these actions apply to these proceedings and the City does not claim that any apply here.

B. The Settlement Agreement's Terms and Conditions Have Not been Incorporated into Water Right 01-181C and Cannot Change the Authorized Uses of a Water Right.

Since "recharge" is not listed as an authorized use of water right 01-181C, the City is forced to point to a *private* settlement agreement to justify its arguments. It is left to contend that the Settlement Agreement obviates the law – arguing that a *private* agreement, between two *private* parties has the effect of altering the uses authorized under the water right by the Department and the SRBA Court. *City Br.* at 28-33.

The City's brief marches through much of Idaho's statutory provisions addressing the elements and conditions on the use of water rights. *City Br.* at 13-19. It asserts "any element of a water right may be stated anywhere in the decree." *Id.* at 29. Therefore, according to the City, since a condition has been placed on the water right that provides "the diversion and use of water under this transfer is subject to additional conditions and limitations contained in a Settlement Agreement," the Director and District Court must consider that agreement as though it were spelled out specifically on the face of the water right. *Id.* at 13-19. In ruling otherwise, the City contends, the Director and District Court "exalted form over substance." *Id.* at 17.

The City provides no legal authority for the premise that a private settlement agreement will become binding on the Department if a condition is placed on the water right referencing that agreement. Its reliance on the law of mergers in a divorce decree is inapposite and not persuasive. *Id.* at 15-16.

The condition on the water right 01-181C provides that the Settlement Agreement will be "enforceable by the parties thereto." A.R. Ex. 105. In other words, the Settlement Agreement is not enforceable by any other person or entity – only the Parties. Had the Department intended to be bound by the Settlement Agreement or enforce that agreement, it could have said so in the

condition. It did not. Rather, the Department recognized that the agreement is only binding on the parties and placed a limitation in the condition.

This is consistent with the divorce decree addressed in *Davidson v. Soelberg*, 154 Idaho 227 (Ct. App. 2013), upon which the City relies. There, the stipulated decree provided that it "merged and incorporated [the settlement agreement] into this decree of divorce, except for Paragraph L which is not merged and shall remain a separate contract between the parties." *Id.* at 231. Based on that limiting language, the statutes for the enforcement of a child support provision in a divorce decree did not apply. *Id*.

In this case, limiting language was incorporated into the condition. Rather than fully merging the Settlement Agreement into the Water Right, the condition provided that the Settlement Agreement is only "enforceable by the parties thereto." A.R. Ex. 106. Contrary to the City's contention, the Settlement Agreement was not "incorporated" into water right 01-181C such that it would compel certain actions or determinations by the Department.

Allowing the mere reference of <u>private</u> settlement agreements to dictate the Department's obligations with regards to the administration of a water right would lead to absurd results. Indeed, it would allow any water user to simply agree to change the elements of his rights without involving the Department in any way.¹¹

Policy arguments further support rejecting the City's argument. By referencing a private settlement agreement on the face of a water right, the Department and Parties have a convenient method of apprising all water users – even future water users – of the potential limitations on the use of a particular water right. As a successor may acquire the water right in the future, he or she

¹¹ The City even made this argument before the District Court, when it asserted that the City and the Coalition could "properly amend the Settlement Agreement to allow 01-181C to be applied to mitigate a third party's water right" and that such an amendment would "settle the issue" – even without the Department's involvement. A.R. 70. The City has abandoned that argument before this Court.

would have notice that a private settlement agreement may include additional limitations on the use of that water. The condition ensures that any future water user is properly informed about additional restrictions on the water right. Any ruling that the Department is somehow bound by a private settlement agreement merely because it is referenced on the water right will prevent the Department from making such references in the future and will increase the likelihood that future water users will be unaware of settlement agreement limitations.

Apart from this reason, the City's arguments miss the point. There is no dispute that the condition is valid and enforceable, that the Coalition and City are bound by the terms of the Settlement Agreement or that the Settlement Agreement provides "additional conditions and limitations" regarding the "diversion and use" of water right 01-181C as between the parties thereto. A.R. Ex. 106. These facts, however, do not mean that the private Settlement Agreement alters the authorized uses of water right 01-181C or somehow require that the Director recognize "incidental recharge" as mitigation for a new groundwater right. This is particularly true here, where "recharge" was included on both the application for transfer and draft approval, but was removed upon agreement between the Coalition and City. Supra. Former Mayor Reese confirmed that water right 01-181C is used for "irrigation and recreation purposes" and that written consent from the Coalition would be required "if you want to change that." Admin. Tr. at 44-45. The Director properly rejected the City' attempt to shoehorn a changed use for water right 01-181C through an erroneous interpretation of the Settlement Agreement. A.R. 272 ("the Settlement Agreement does not in any way affect the Director's decision in this matter. The decision can be made using principles of Idaho water law without referring to the Settlement Agreement."). 12

¹² Confusingly, the City asserts that the Director made this decision without any "arguments advocated by the Coalition." City Br. at 21. This assertion is wrong. See A.R. 256-59 (Coalition response to City's exceptions brief asserting that a transfer must be filed and that the Settlement Agreement cannot, by itself, represent a change in the de-

In affirming the Director's decision, the District Court identified at least three errors in the City's argument. First, a condition on a water right provides information to "define, clarify or administer" the water right. Clerk's R. 212. "It cannot enlarge the purpose of use elements of a water right by authorizing additional uses of water not identified therein." *Id.* "For instance, the other provisions element cannot authorize the use of a larger quantity of water." *Id.* The City's argument that the reference to the Settlement Agreement added an additional use of "recharge" to water right 01-181C "fundamentally changes how water under the right may be used." *Id.*

Second, the approved transfer, A.R. Ex. 105, and partial decree, A.R. Ex. 106, each identify five purposes of use – of which "recharge" is not included. Clerk's R. 212. "If the City believed water right 01-181C authorized it to divert water for recharge, it is not burdensome to identify 'recharge' under the purpose of use element – it is necessary." *Id.* at 213.

Finally, had "recharge" been an approved use under the right, then Idaho law mandates that a period of use be identified for that "recharge." *Id.*; *see* I.C. § 42-1411(2)(f) & (g) (a purpose of use must be identified as well as "the period of the year when water is used for such purposes"). However, water right 01-181C does not identify any period of use for "recharge." Clerk's R. 213.¹³ The District Court's sound reasoning on these points should be accepted.

Without any supporting legal theory the City merely asserts that the District Court exalted "form over substance." *City Br.* at 27. The City does not respond to the District Court's findings

_

creed elements of a water right). That notwithstanding, this contention has no bearing on the validity of the Director's decision. See I.C. § 67-5245(7) ("The head of the agency or his designee for the review of preliminary orders shall exercise all of the decision-making power that he would have had if the agency head had presided over the hearing").

¹³ In fact, even the Settlement Agreement is silent as to the period of use for any "recharge" that may be contemplated therein. A.R. Ex. 4. This is further indication that, at the time the agreement was executed, the parties did not intend that "recharge" would be an automatically authorized use under the right, but would require further analysis through an "appropriate" application.

that water right 01-181C lacks an identified period of use. Rather, the City contends that elements may be mixed and matched throughout the face of the water right. *City Br.* 13-19. The District Court property rejected this argument. Clerk's R. 211-13. The City's "mix and match" argument – which would allow additional purposes of use to be included in a separate <u>private</u> agreement – would only create ambiguities and disputes over the use of water.

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